STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

APR 1 2015

Certiorari to Williamsburg County

R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

S.C. Supreme Court

RONALD H. MACK,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-001518

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

LAURA R. BAER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. Whether Petitioner's case should be remanded for resentencing based on the intervening cases of Miller v. Alabama, 132 S.Ct. 2455 (2012), and Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014), where Petitioner was a juvenile at the time of the offense and his sentence of fifty years is the functional equivalent of life without parole?
- II. Whether the PCR Court erred in finding Petitioner's plea counsel provided effective assistance counsel where plea counsel failed to advise Petitioner regarding the strength of the State's case, effectively advised Petitioner that he would not receive a fair trial in South Carolina, and failed to correct the Solicitor's misstatement that she could have pursued the death penalty in Petitioner's case?
- III. Whether the PCR Court erred in finding Petitioner's guilty plea was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary where Petitioner was not advised that he was constitutionally ineligible for the death penalty after the Solicitor stated at the plea hearing that she considered pursuing the death penalty in Petitioner's case?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural History

On July 6, 2009, Petitioner Ronald H. Mack, along with his three co-defendants, Tawanda Mack Allen, Kelvin Michael Bowen, Jr., and Antonio Lavelle McClary, was indicted by the Williamsburg County Grand Jury for murder, first degree burglary, conspiracy, and possession of a weapon during a violent crime.¹ App. 72 – 74. Mack, born August 24, 1991, was seventeen years old on the date of the alleged crime, April 5, 2009.

On August 24, 2010, Mack appeared before the Honorable Clifton Newman and pled guilty to the offenses of murder and first degree burglary. App. 1 – 3. The remaining charges were *nolle prossed*. App. 3. Mack was represented by Legrand Carraway, and the State was represented by Assistant Solicitor Kimberly V. Barr. App. 1. Judge Newman accepted Mack's guilty plea. App. 13. He then sentenced Mack to concurrent sentences of fifty years for murder and thirty years for first degree burglary. App. 32, ll. 7-12.

No direct appeal was filed.

Application for Post-Conviction Relief and Evidentiary Hearing

On August 5, 2011, Mack filed his application for post-conviction relief ("PCR") alleging ineffective assistance of counsel and that his guilty was not knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. App. 34 – 40. The State filed its Return on May 18, 2012. App. 41 – 45. An evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr. on May 27, 2014. Mack was represented by Charles T. Brooks and the State was represented by Assistant Attorney General Croom Hunter. App. 46. Mack and plea counsel Carraway testified at the hearing. App. 46 – 60.

¹ Tawanda Mack Allen is Mack's mother, Kelvin Michael Bowen, Jr. is Mack's mother's boyfriend, and Antonio Lavelle McClary is a friend of Mack.

At the PCR hearing, Mack testified that Carraway told him that he would never win a trial for murder in South Carolina. App. 50, ll. 19-23. Mack further stated that Carraway met with him only twice, did not review discovery with him, and did not discuss any possible defenses or witnesses. App. 52, ll. 4-15. Mack admitted that the trial transcript reflected his affirmative answers to the plea judge's questions regarding if he understood everything and his satisfaction with Carraway's services, and whether he was in fact guilty of the crimes. App. 52, l. 16 – 54, l. 21.

Carraway testified that he met with Mack between three and five times prior to the plea. App. 55, ll. 14-17; App. 55, l. 25 – 56, l. 2. He admitted that he did not discuss any defenses with Mack, purportedly because Mack never denied his presence. App. 5 – 12. He also admitted that he never questioned Mack's competency despite his being a minor. App. 56, ll. 13-18. Carraway testified that he obtained discovery but did not file any Rule 5 or Brady² motions and could not recall if he went over discovery with Mack or if they "just talked about what had happened." App. 57, ll. 11-18. Carraway acknowledged that Mack made a confession, but did not testify as to whether there was any basis to suppress the confession. App. 58, ll. 18-20.

Order of Dismissal

Judge Cothran's Order of Dismissal denying Mack's PCR application was filed July 1, 2014. App. 61 – 67. Judge Cothran ruled that Mack failed to demonstrate any deficiencies in plea counsel Carraway's representation and that Mack's guilty plea was knowingly and voluntarily entered. App. 64 – 66.

This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

² Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194 (1963).

ARGUMENT

- I. **Petitioner's case should be remanded for resentencing based on the intervening cases of Miller v. Alabama, 132 S.Ct. 2455 (2012), and Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014), where Petitioner was a juvenile at the time of the offense and his sentence of fifty years is the functional equivalent of life without parole.³**

Relevant Facts

During the sentencing phase of the August 24, 2010 hearing, the victim's mother, Annette Bradshaw, asked the court to sentence Mack to life in prison. App. 13, ll. 15-19. The solicitor admitted that Mack was seventeen years old at the time of the offense and did not have any prior arrests or convictions. App. 14, ll. 3-5. However, she mentioned references that Mack made in his statement to police about his gang involvement and prior violent conduct. App. 14, ll. 5-17. She described the killing of Kenyon Dorsey as cold-blooded and callous. App. 14, ll. 17-18. She then requested imposition of a life sentence, stating "I certainly believe that given what he's done, that a life sentence is appropriate for him." App. 15, ll. 1-2. She also said that "this case was at least worth conversation about a death penalty case" but did not pursue it due to the victim's mother's opposition to the death penalty. App. 25, ll. 5-11.

Plea counsel, Legrand Carraway, noted that Mack was seventeen at the time of the crime, nineteen at the time of sentencing, and observed him to be a "nice, soft spoken, and intelligent boy." App. 15, ll. 9-17; App. 19, ll. 2-5. He also provided the court with some background on Mack's upbringing, being raised in Kingstree by his mother and step-father, James Allen, until the family

³ The sentencing issue was not raised in the PCR application or at the evidentiary hearing on May 27, 2014, because Byars was not filed until November 12, 2014. This case presents a most unusual circumstance in that it involves a term of years sentence that is the functional equivalent of a sentence of life without parole rather than an explicit life without parole sentence. Rather than leaving the trial court to determine if Byars applies to Mack's case upon the filing of a Motion for Resentencing, it is in the interest of judicial economy for this Court to grant certiorari and remand this case for re-sentencing consistent with Byars. However, out of an abundance of caution, appellate counsel has advised Mack to file a Motion for Resentencing in Clarendon County.

moved to Maryland when Mack was in seventh grade. App. 15, l. 23 – 16, l. 8. When Mack was in the ninth grade, his mother and Mr. Allen separated and were eventually divorced. App. 16, ll. 8-14. During or after his tenth grade year, Mack moved back to South Carolina living with either his grandmother or step-father while his mother remained in Maryland. App. 20, ll. 12-16.

Regarding the incident itself, Carraway advised that Mack was involved with the Bloods gang in Maryland and that the victim was involved with the same gang in Williamsburg County, South Carolina. App. 16, l. 15 – 17, l. 6; App. 20, ll. 16-19. The victim owed Mack a “tremendous amount of money” related to drug transactions and was relaying negative information about Mack to gang members in Maryland. App. 17, l. 6 – 18, l. 6. The victim and other individuals then shot at Mack when he was playing basketball in a park. App. 18, ll. 6-18. The gang members in Maryland told Mack that he “needed to take of this problem here.” App. 18, ll. 18-19. Carraway also noted the attraction of what seems to be a “glamorous” life to any seventeen year old. App. 20, ll. 5-12. In addition to the “brain washing” of the gang that he saw as family, Carraway noted the involvement of Mack’s mother and her boyfriend in the crime. App. 21, l. 1 – 22, l. 24. Mack’s mother drove him and the other co-defendants to the victim’s home to carry out the crime. App. 23, ll. 14-18.

Carraway argued that the involvement of Mack’s mother and her adult boyfriend made this case unusual. App. 25, l. 18 – 26, l. 11. He advised the Court that since being away from these outside influences Mack is out of his previous mindset. App. 20, ll. 20-24; App. 22, ll. 16-19. In asking for the mandatory minimum sentence of thirty years, Carraway averred that Mack would not have taken the same actions were it not for the influence of the gang and his mother. App. 21 – 24. He asked the court to give Mack another chance and imagine how much he has changed and will continue to change away from his mother and the gang. App. 26, ll. 11-18. Carraway concluded

his argument by asking “who among us has been cursed enough to have a mother to take us to a murder site?” App. 26, ll. 19-21.

Mack also made a statement during sentencing, in which he asked for mercy. He acknowledged that what he did was wrong and that he was acting out of fear and under the influence of the gang in which he was involved. App. 24, l. 1-7. Mack confirmed that his mother drove him down from Maryland to commit the crime, provided the weapons, waited outside, and never tried to dissuade Mack. App. 27, l. 1 – 28, l. 5. He stated that Bowen, his mother’s boyfriend, was also an influence and accompanied him “to make sure things go smooth.” App. 28, ll. 9-17. The solicitor confirmed that Bowen had gang ties also and a criminal history including pending charges in Florence County for the shooting of Mack’s step-father on January 25, 2009. App. 28, l. 18 – 30, l. 10. However, the solicitor indicated that she did not believe Bowen had a “dog in the fight” with respect to the killing of victim Dorsey, but was rather “just happy to provide gun fire and happy to go and help kill him.” App. 30, ll. 11-15.

Judge Newman began the explanation of his sentence with the following:

Well, the purpose of a sentence is to represent what society determines to be justice for a crime and to – not to send a message to the community, but to do what most law abiding citizens would expect the Court to do. And then in weighing all of this, the fact of the matter is, that ***the sentence is not about Mr. Mack, not about him and the possibility that he might turn his life around at some point in time between age 19 and age 80, if he lives that long...*** But it’s – ***the sentence is not about Mr. Mack.*** I mean, it’s – how old is Mr. Dorsey?

App. 30, l. 21 – 31, l. 4. The solicitor responded that the victim, Kenyon Dorsey, was seventeen.

App. 31, l. 5. The judge went on to say:

It’s not about the future years of Mr. Mack. How about the lack of future years of Mr. Dorsey. He’s the victim, the victim, victim’s family, the victim’s loved ones. Mr. Mack is almost a lost cause at this point based on all of the choices that he made. ***He’s a lost cause***

as far as society is concerned. His future is not within society. His future, your future, is out of society. You've given up your freedom. You've given up the right to walk among free people.

App. 31, ll. 6-14. After asking the defendant why he decided to give up his future and freedom, the judge stated:

Unfortunately you'll never know any better because you – that's a – just as you snuffed out his life *you snuffed out your future just the same*. All of the great things that Mr. Carraway said about you and all he thinks about you, I mean, I'm not questioning at all whether those things are true. But if you are to take advantage of those things it won't be – *it will not be out in a free society where you've given up your freedom and your right to anyone to trust you to walk the streets. And you'll have to do those good deeds behind bars*. That's just a fact of the matter.

App. 31, l. 14 – 32, l. 6. Judge Newman then sentenced Mack to concurrent sentences of fifty years for murder and thirty years for first degree burglary and admonished Mack “that’s more than you can count” and “that’s the bed you made.” App. 32, ll. 7-12.

Discussion

- A. Pursuant to *Byars*, which applied the principles enunciated in *Miller*, the Eighth Amendment requires individualized consideration of youth prior to the imposition of a life sentence without parole upon a juvenile offender.

The Eighth Amendment, applicable to the states under the Fourteenth Amendment, prohibits cruel and unusual punishment, guaranteeing individuals the right to be free from excessive sanctions, which “flows from the basic precept of justice that punishment for crime should be graduated and proportioned to both the offender and the offense.” *Miller v. Alabama*, 132 S.Ct. 2455, 2463 (2012) (internal citations and quotations omitted). The United States Supreme Court held in *Miller* that mandatory life imprisonment without parole for those under the age of eighteen at the time of their crimes violates the Eighth Amendment’s prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment. *Id.* Subsequently, in *Aiken v. Byars*, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014), this Court

held that the Miller decision applies retroactively and that life without parole sentence for juveniles without individualized consideration of youth constitute cruel and unusual punishment.

In Miller, the defendants were both convicted of murder at age fourteen and mandatorily sentenced to life without the possibility of the parole. 132 S.Ct. at 2460. The Court evaluated two sets of precedent, the first adopting categorical bans on sentencing practices due to the difference in the culpability of the class of offenders and the severity of the penalty, and the second requiring sentencing authorities to “consider the characteristics of a defendant and the details of his offense before sentencing him to death.” Id. at 2463-64. The Court determined that the principles established in those two lines of cases support its conclusion that mandatory life-without-parole sentences for juveniles violate the Eighth Amendment. Id. at 2464.

The Court noted that its prior decisions in Roper⁴ and Graham⁵ established “that children are constitutionally different than adults for purposes of sentencing.” Id. The difference between children and adults is based on children’s lack of maturity and responsibility, increased vulnerability to negative influences and outside pressure, and ability to develop their character and reform. Id. at 2464-65. While the Court noted that Graham distinguished the moral culpability and consequential harm between homicide and non-homicidal offenses, the distinctive characteristics of children remain regardless of the crime committed. Thus, the Court found that “Graham’s reasoning implicates any life-without-parole sentence imposed on a juvenile, even as its categorical bar relates only to nonhomicide offenses.” Id. They also noted that because juveniles cannot be sentenced to death, the most severe penalty available for juvenile offenders is life without parole and its imposition “cannot proceed as though they were not children.” Id. at 2466. Moreover, a life

⁴ Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551 (2005).

⁵ Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48 (2010).

sentence for a juvenile shares characteristics with the imposition of the death penalty in that “[i]mprisoning an offender until he dies alters the remainder of his life “by forfeiture that is irrevocable” and is especially harsh for a juvenile who will almost inevitably spend more years and a greater percentage of his life incarcerated than an adult offender. Id.

Due to the similarity of life sentences for juveniles and capital punishment, the Court found the second line of cases requiring individualized sentencing before imposing the death penalty relevant to its analysis. Id. at 2467. While juveniles deserve punishment for their crimes, the sentencer must examine all of the circumstances before concluding that life without the parole is the proper penalty. Id. at 2469. While Miller did not proscribe a categorical bar on life without parole sentences for juveniles, it advised:

[G]iven all we have said in Roper, Graham, and this decision about children’s diminished culpability and heightened capacity for change, we think *appropriate occasions for sentencing juveniles to this harshest possible penalty will be uncommon*. That is especially so because of the great difficulty we noted in Roper and Graham of distinguishing at this early age between the juvenile offender whose crime reflects unfortunate yet transient immaturity, and the rare juvenile offender whose crime reflects irreparable corruption.

Id. (internal citations and quotations omitted). The Miller opinion “require[s] [a sentencer] to take into account how children are different, and how those differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison” before imposing a penalty of life without parole. Id.

In Aiken v. Byars, this Court determined Miller’s retroactivity and its applicability in South Carolina, which does not have the mandatory sentencing scheme prohibited in Miller. 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572. This Court first determined that Miller “creates a new, substantive rule and should therefore apply retroactively.” Id. at 540, 765 S.E.2d at 575. The new rule is substantive because it prohibits “a certain class of defendants – juveniles – from specific punishment – life

without parole absent individualized consideration of youth.” Id. at 541, 765 S.E.2d at 575. Retroactive applicability is proper because a failure to do so “risks subjecting defendants to a legally invalid punishment.” Id. at 541, 765 S.E.2d at 576.

Turning then to Miller’s application in South Carolina, where the statutes do not mandate life sentences for juveniles, this Court noted Miller’s reasoning, outlined supra, and Miller’s statement that “‘Graham’s reasoning implicates any life-without-parole sentence imposed on a juvenile, even as its categorical bar relates only to nonhomicide offenses.’” Id. at 542, 765 S.E.2d at 576 (quoting Miller, 132 S.Ct. at 2465). The Aiken majority determined that even though South Carolina’s statutes permit rather than require life sentences for juvenile offenders, the “proportionality rationale integral to Miller’s holding” must be given effect such that youth “must be afford adequate weight in sentencing.” Id. at 542-43, 765 S.E.2d at 576. The majority reasoned that “Miller is clear that it is the failure of a sentencing court to consider the hallmark features of youth prior to sentencing that offends the Constitution.” Id. at 543, 765 S.E.2d at 576-77. Thus, it found that Miller did more than prohibit statutory schemes resulting in mandatory life sentences for juveniles. Id. at 543, 765 S.E.2d at 577. It “establishes an affirmative requirement that courts fully explore the impact of the defendant’s juvenility on the sentence rendered.” Id.

Regarding the practical application of this requirement, this Court referenced the framework outlined in Miller, which articulated the factors that a sentencing court *must* consider. Id. at 544, 765 S.E.2d at 577. The requisite factors include:

- (1) the chronological age of the offender and the hallmark features of youth, including immaturity, impetuosity, and failure to appreciate the risks and consequence;
- (2) the family and home environment that surrounded the offender;
- (3) the circumstances of the homicide offense, including the extent of the offender’s participation in the conduct and how familial and peer pressures may have affected him;
- (4) the incompetencies associated with youth—for example, the offender’s inability to deal with police

officers or prosecutors (including on a plea agreement) or the offender's incapacity to assist his own attorneys; and (5) the possibility of rehabilitation.

Id. (citing Miller, 132 S.Ct. at 2468). Further, while not specifically requiring that the sentencing hearing mirror the penalty phase of a capital case, this Court noted that "the type of mitigating evidence permitted in death penalty sentencing hearings unquestionably has relevance to juvenile life without parole sentencing hearings, in addition to the factors illustrated above." Id. at 544-45, 765 S.E.2d at 577. Thus, while a juvenile may still be sentenced to life without parole in light of other aggravating circumstances, before that sentence may be imposed upon a juvenile, "he must receive an individualized hearing where the mitigating hallmark features of youth are fully explored." Id. at 545, 765 S.E.2d at 578.

B. The sentencing judge's imposition of a fifty year sentence is a de facto life without parole sentence, and the judge's comments during sentencing indicate his intention that the sentence be the equivalent of life without parole.

Mack is currently twenty-three years old, having a birthdate of August 24, 1991. According to the Department of Probation and Parole, Mack is not eligible for parole and his expected date of release is August 11, 2060. His release date is two weeks prior to his sixty-ninth birthday. The fifty year sentence imposed upon Mack is a de facto sentence of the life without parole.

While there is little South Carolina case law regarding de facto life sentences, this Court recognized in State v. Kimbrough, 212 S.C. 348, 357, 46 S.E.2d 273, 277 (1948), that the trial judge imposed a thirty year sentence that was "to all intents and purposes the equivalent of a life sentence." Where the record revealed nothing to justify the trial court's disregarding the jury's recommendation of mercy, this Court held that "[n]o one doubts that the able trial judge conscientiously endeavored to fix a sentence which he thought was fair and just, but under all the circumstances we are constrained to hold that the sentence imposed is manifestly too severe."

Id. This Court also noted that parole eligibility is “an act of grace and a matter of discretion, and may be refused” such that their decision could not be influenced by statutory allowances for good time credits or parole eligibility. Id. at 358, 46 S.E.2d at 277.

In State v. Null, 836 N.W.2d 41 (Iowa 2013), the Iowa Supreme Court held that the principles of Miller apply to juveniles sentenced to a lengthy term of years.⁶ The Court first set forth a lengthy analysis of the application of the Eighth Amendment to juveniles, determining that “Roper, Graham, and Miller directly settled a number of controversies.” Id. at 66. The Court said:

After these cases, it is clear that the Eighth Amendment prohibits the imposition of the death penalty for crimes committed by juvenile defendants, that life in prison without parole cannot be imposed on a juvenile nonhomicide offender, and that mandatory life without parole cannot be imposed on a juvenile who commits homicide without consideration of the mitigating characteristics of youth. All of these results rested on the notion that juveniles are constitutionally different from adults for purposes of the imposition of harsh punishments.

Id. The Court then considered whether the principles of Miller applied to Null, who was sentenced to a total of 52.5 years based on aggregation of his mandatory minimum sentences for second-degree murder and first-degree robbery. Id. at 71.

In finding Miller applicable and remanding Null’s case for resentencing, the Court first noted that Miller emphasized that the differences in children are not “crime specific.” Id. It also noted that while “52.5 years imprisonment is not technically a life-without-parole sentence, such a lengthy sentence imposed on a juvenile is sufficient to trigger Miller-type protections.” Id.

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