STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

AUG 20 2015

APPEAL FROM WILLIAMSBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. Supreme Court

The Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-001518

Ronald H. Mack, Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina, Respondent.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. CROOM HUNTER
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar # 101253

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

- I. **Certiorari is unwarranted to review whether the PCR Judge properly denied and dismissed Petitioner's PCR Application where the legality of Petitioner's sentence under Miller v. Alabama, 132 S.Ct. 2455 (2012), and Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014) was not raised to the PCR court and is not preserved for review.**

Petitioner asserts that the post-conviction relief judge erred in denying Petitioner's Application for PCR because intervening cases require a judge to apply an "individualized consideration of youth prior to the imposition of a life sentence without parole upon a juvenile offender." Petitioner's PWC, p. 1 (citing Miller v. Alabama, 132 S.Ct. 2455 (2012); and Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014)). This argument is not preserved for review.

In his order of dismissal, and pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §17-27-80 (2003), Judge Cothran fully addressed the only two issues Petitioner claimed in his application: (1) ineffective assistance of counsel, and (2) involuntary guilty plea. Judge Cothran did not mention Miller or any issues relating to Miller because the issue was not raised at the PCR hearing.

State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 587 S.E.2d 691 (2003) is controlling. In Dunbar, this Court held, "In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal." Id., at 142, 587 S.E.2d at 693-94. As the PCR Judge did not specifically rule upon the present issue, it is not preserved for review by this Court. See Staubes v. City of Folly Beach, 339 S.C. 406, 412, 529 S.E.2d. 543, 546 (2000); Plyler v. State, 309 S.C. 408, 409, 424 S.E.2d 477, 478 (1992).

Petitioner mentions in a footnote that "[t]he sentencing issue was not raised in the PCR application or at the evidentiary hearing on May 27, 2014, because Byars was not filed until November 12, 2014." Petitioner's PWC, p.5, no.3. Petitioner then asks "in the interest of judicial economy" that this Court address the issue. Id. Petitioner admits that this petition is not the correct avenue by which this issue should be addressed and has complied with the correct avenue by filing a Motion for Resentencing in Clarendon County. Id. In light of this concession by Petitioner, Respondent submits that this issue is not properly before this Court.

II. The PCR court's finding that Petitioner's plea counsel provided effective assistance regarding Petitioner's chances at trial, as well as regarding the Solicitor's statements, is supported by probative evidence, where Counsel's conduct was reasonable within the professional norms. Further, in addition to not being preserved for appeal, any comments made by the Solicitor about the death penalty were corrected by the Judge.

Petitioner also asserts that the PCR court erred in finding Counsel's performance was not deficient because Counsel "effectively advised Mack that he would not receive a fair trial in

South Carolina, failed to advise Mack regarding the infirmities in the State's case against him, and failed to correct the Solicitor's misstatement that she could have pursued the death penalty." Petitioner's PWC, p.19. Respondent submits that only half of Petitioner's claim regarding ineffective assistance of counsel is preserved for appeal and submits that any and all claims regarding the Solicitor's comments about the death penalty are not preserved for review. In addressing the issues that are preserved for appeal, Respondent submits that Counsel provided effective assistance and performed to a standard within the reasonable norms of the profession. Counsel adequately assessed Petitioner's chances regarding both a trial and a guilty plea. In advising Petitioner, Counsel considered the evidence in favor of Petitioner and the overwhelming evidence against Petitioner

Ineffective Assistance of Counsel

In a post-conviction relief action, the applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations in the application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985) (citing Griffin v. Martin, 278 S.C. 620, 300 S.E.2d 482 (1983)). Where the application alleges ineffective assistance of plea counsel as a ground for relief, the applicant must prove "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process" that the plea proceedings "cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Id. (citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984)).

The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687; Turner v. Bass, 753 F.2d 342 (4th Cir. 1985); Marzullo v. Maryland, 561 F.2d 540 (4th Cir. 1977)). The Court strongly presumes plea counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Id. (citing Strickland,

466 U.S. at 690). The applicant must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989).

The Court applies a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of plea counsel. Id. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625. First, the applicant must prove plea counsel's performance was deficient. Id. Under this prong, the Court measures an attorney's performance by its "reasonableness under prevailing professional norms." Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688). Second, plea counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Id. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. With respect to guilty plea counsel, the applicant must show there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's alleged errors, he would not have pled guilty and would have insisted on going to trial. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 59 (1985).

On appeal, this Court must affirm the circuit court's denial of post-conviction relief when there is probative evidence to support the findings of the circuit court. Wolfe v. State, 326 S.C. 158, 163, 485 S.E.2d 367, 369 (1997) (citing McCray v. State, 317 S.C. 557, 455 S.E.2d 686 (1995); Cherry, 300 S.C. at 115, 386 S.E.2d at 624)).

A. Probative evidence exists to support the PCR Court's finding that Petitioner received effective assistance of counsel.

At the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner admitted he pled guilty because he was, in fact, guilty. (App.p.54). Petitioner acknowledged he told the plea judge he was entering his plea freely and voluntarily. (App.p.52-53). The plea judge asked Petitioner multiple times if he was sure he wanted to plead guilty, and each time Petitioner answered he was sure. (App.pp.3-8). Furthermore, Petitioner admitted that he was advised by the plea judge that he waived the opportunity to raise any defenses by pleading guilty. (App.pp.51). At the plea, Petitioner stated

that he murdered the victim Ken Dorsey. (App.p.8). Petitioner reaffirmed this statement at the PCR hearing by admitting that he was “guilty of murder and the other various crimes.” (App.pp.54).

Plea counsel testified he obtained discovery from the State and went over the materials with Petitioner. (App.p.57). Counsel testified that the decision was made to plea because Petitioner never denied his guilt. (App.p.56). Petitioner also gave a statement to the police confessing to the crime. (App.pp.58). Counsel testified that although he did not go over any defenses with Petitioner, “[Petitioner] didn’t try to make any excuses for [the murder].” (App.p.58). Counsel testified he went over Petitioner’s rights prior to his plea and had no concerns that he understood what he was doing. (App.pp.58-59).

The record contains significant probative evidence Petitioner fully understood the risks and benefits of proceeding to trial. These risks included the overwhelming evidence against Petitioner, including his own confession. These risks and benefits factored into his calculated decision to enter a guilty plea and waive any right to challenge the evidence against him. Accordingly, the post-conviction relief judge did not err in finding plea counsel was not ineffective.

B. Petitioner’s claim regarding Counsel’s handling of the solicitor’s comments is not preserved for appeal.

Petitioner asserts that Counsel was also ineffective for failing to correct the Solicitor’s statements “that she could have sought the death penalty in Mack’s case.” (Petitioner’s PWC p. 23). This argument is not preserved for appeal. Petitioner did raise the issue of ineffective assistance of counsel in his application; however, Petitioner raised the issue only in regards to Counsel’s comments regarding Petitioner’s chances at trial. At the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner’s PCR Counsel asked Petitioner if he had any more complaints he wanted to tell the

judge, noting “[t]his is your day to talk about it.” (App.p.58). Petitioner responded “no, sir, not really.” (App.p.58). Respondent therefore submits that this argument is not preserved for appeal. State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 587 S.E.2d 691 (2003) is again controlling. As the issue was not raised to the PCR Judge, he could not specifically rule upon it, and it is not preserved for review by this Court. See Staubes v. City of Folly Beach, 339 S.C. 406, 412, 529 S.E.2d. 543, 546 (2000); Plyler v. State, 309 S.C. 408, 409, 424 S.E.2d 477, 478 (1992).

Should the court find that the issue is preserved for appeal, Respondent submits, *arguendo*, that any misstatement made by the solicitor was corrected by the judge during the plea hearing. Petitioner asserts that the solicitor claimed “she could have sought the death penalty in Mack’s case.” (App.p.23). In outlining the charges to Petitioner, the judge clearly stated that the each charge carried “a maximum sentence of life imprisonment.” (App.p.4). The solicitor made the comment in question after the Petitioner stated his intent to plead guilty and after the judge accepted the plea. (App.p.25). Thus, when Petitioner pled guilty he did so knowing that the death penalty was not an option. Further, the solicitor merely stated that the case was “worthy of a conversation about a death penalty case.” (App.p.25). She did not state that she could have sought such a penalty. Accordingly, Respondent submits that this argument is not preserved for appeal and alternatively that any misstatements made by the Solicitor were cured by the judge’s instructions to Petitioner.

III. Certiorari is unwarranted to review whether Petitioner’s guilty plea was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary, where Petitioner’s argument that he was not advised he was constitutionally ineligible for the death penalty is not preserved for appellate review.

Finally, Petitioner asserts the PCR Court erred in finding Petitioner’s guilty plea was involuntarily made because “the solicitor stated on the record that she considered pursuing the death penalty in Mack’s case and would have done so but for protest from the victim’s mother.”

(Petitioner's PWC, p.23). This argument is not preserved for review.

Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §17-27-80 (2003), the PCR Judge fully addressed the only similar allegation raised by Petitioner in his "Allegations" section as follows:

This Court finds Applicant has failed to demonstrate that his guilty plea was entered involuntarily. Applicant testified that he recalled the plea judge going over his rights with him prior to his guilty plea. Applicant further testified that no one promised or threatened him in order to make him plead guilty. Applicant testified he was satisfied with Counsel's services. Applicant testified he was, in fact, guilty of the crimes to which he pled guilty.

App.p.23. This finding, while made in relation to a claim of an involuntary guilty plea, was not made in relation to a claim regarding a guilty plea made solely because Petitioner thought that he could receive the death penalty. The finding was made in relation to the vague phrase that Petitioner was "[c]oerced into pleading guilty." (App.p.62). Petitioner did not claim that this "coercion" came as a result of the belief that he would get the death penalty. Therefore, the death penalty argument was not raised and is not preserved for review. See State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 587 S.E.2d 691 (2003); Staubes v. City of Folly Beach, 339 S.C. 406, 412, 529 S.E.2d. 543, 546 (2000); Plyler v. State, 309 S.C. 408, 409, 424 S.E.2d 477, 478 (1992).

Nevertheless, should the Court find that the issue is preserved for appeal, Respondent again submits, *arguendo*, that Petitioner pled guilty knowing that the maximum punishment possible was life imprisonment. The record shows that nearly immediately after the plea hearing began, and well before the solicitor mentioned the death penalty, the judge informed Petitioner that the maximum penalty possible for either charge is life imprisonment. The phrase "death penalty" does not appear in Petitioner's PCR application, the PCR hearing, or the Judge's Order of Dismissal. In fact, in the entire Appendix, which does not include Petitioner's PWC, the phrase only appears twice. (App.p.25). These two instances, spoken in the same breath, occur

when the Solicitor speaks to the judge after Petitioner has pled guilty and after the judge has accepted the plea.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent submits this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari. However, if this Court grants certiorari, Respondent requests the opportunity to fully brief the issue discussed above.